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Chairman’s Foreword

As Chairman of the South China Chapter of the European Union Chamber of Commerce in China (South China 
Chapter) it is my distinct pleasure to present the first stand-alone position paper for the region.1 This year, the 
European Chamber has chosen this new format for our positions papers to make the most of the unique insights all of 
our local chapters and members offer us on a daily basis. 

For the past eighteen years, I have lived and worked in South China and have experienced the ups and downs of 
this dynamic region. From the lows of the SARS outbreak to the resounding success of hosting the Asian Games in 
November 2010; from large-scale strikes and protests to the breath-taking development of local high-tech giants such 
as Huawei, Tencent and ZTE, the region has always been resilient and has managed to steam ahead despite many 
obstacles along the way. 

There is a popular Chinese proverb which says: “天高皇帝远” – “the skies (in Guangdong) are high and the emperor 
(is) far away”. Indeed, South China’s local governments have always had a high level of autonomy in driving 
economic development, but the central leadership also knew when to make the most of the region’s ‘high skies’. For 
example, Deng Xiaoping chose Guangdong as the starting point for China’s large-scale economic reforms in the late 
1970s and, shortly after concluding his term, reminded China of its commitment to his new economic vision by visiting 
Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Zhuhai during his 1992 Southern Tour.

South China’s Guangdong Province has topped the nation in terms of gross domestic product (GDP) volume for 25 
consecutive years.2 It has been the manufacturing engine of China and the largest province in terms of export value. 
The Pearl River Delta (PRD), located within Guangdong Province, is an economic powerhouse and has recently 
overtaken Tokyo to become the world’s largest urban area in both size and population. This cluster of cities—often 
referred to as a megacity—has a combined population of well over 50 million people3 – more people than live in 
Canada, Australia or Spain.

Coupled with a freewheeling, local, private-enterprise economy, Guangdong quickly emerged as the ‘world’s factory’: 
a somewhat laissez-faire attitude and the unrestricted and uneven economic development across the province has 
made Guangdong’s success story an unequal and unsustainable one, though.

In hindsight, the South China region as a whole has been a victim of its own success and excess and now needs to 
reinvent itself to face up to the many challenges of the 21st Century. Although Guangdong remains the richest province 
in China, it, and the South China region as a whole, has been hit by rising labour costs, economic difficulties and 
social tensions, and in today’s globalised world investors now have more choices in terms of sourcing and investment 
destinations, both locally and globally. Recent data shows that Guangdong is starting to be overshadowed by Jiangsu 
Province – which lately overtook Guangdong in terms of fixed asset investment, use of foreign funds and the number 
of Fortune 500 companies located there4 – and is under threat by the new ‘economic tigers’ in South East Asia, which 
could easily develop into alternative investment destinations in the years ahead. The future of South China lies in its 
ability to reinvent itself as a destination of choice and to remain committed to expanding and building on the domestic 
demands of its citizens.

1 The European Chamber’s South China Chapter was established in June 2006, first in Guangzhou and a year later in Shenzhen. Our work covers the provincial capital city 
of Guangzhou, the Pearl River Delta, which includes two Special Economic Zones (Zhuhai and Shenzhen), the recently established Guangdong Free Trade Zone, nine 
cities, sixteen county-level municipalities and the special administrative regions of Hong Kong and Macau. 

 The South China Chapter has over 300 members, mainly from Europe. Our members represent various industries, including electronics and telecommunications, 
machinery and equipment, automotive components, household electrical appliances, logistics, healthcare, trading activities, financial, legal and tax services. The South 
China Chapter is operating under the supervision of seven local board members and organises regular meetings with government officials at provincial and municipal 
levels.

2 Guangdong the “Deep Water Area” of Reform, People’s Daily, 23rd June, 2014, viewed on 6th May, 2015, <http://news.sina.com.cn/c/2014-06-23/042030404684.shtml>

3  The Sixth Nationwide Population Census, Statistics Bureau of Guangdong, 10th May, 2010, viewed on 6th May, 2015, <http://www.gdstats.gov.cn/tjgb/t20110510_83276.htm>

4 Controversial Competition Between Guangdong and Jiangsu, Southern Weekly, 24th October, 2013, viewed on 6th May, 2015, <http://www.infzm.com/content/95354> 
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The days in which South China could attract a cheap labour force are long gone, and since the late 1990s, we have 
witnessed a growing disconnect between the human capital needs of both Chinese and foreign companies5 and a 
local talent pool that is increasingly ill-equipped to satisfy their demands. 

South China needs to ensure what we call the ‘three flows’—the flow of people, goods and services, and information 
– on a larger scale than ever before. If the region is to reinvent itself as a 21st Century destination of choice, it needs 
to attract and retain local and international talent, develop high-tech hubs and invest in the services sector. There is 
still a lot of work that needs to be done to change the overall image of the region in terms of openness to investment, 
overall quality of life and the protection of intellectual property, all of which are equally important for fostering a 
healthy and attractive business and living environment. South China has always been a testing ground for the Central 
Government to try out new policies and to extend them to the rest of the country if proven successful. European 
companies should seize the opportunity to engage with South China at this time of transition. All major growth areas 
identified in the 2020 goals6—high tech industries, environmental sustainability and the services sector—are well-
established strengths of European companies.  

More than 20 years after the creation of the first Special Economic Zones (SEZs) in Hainan, Shantou, Shenzhen and 
Zhuhai, the South China Chapter is thrilled that the Guangdong Free Trade Zone (GFTZ) finally received approval 
from the central government in April 2015, and we welcome the extensive plans for the development of the Nansha, 
Qianhai-Shekou and Hengqin pilot areas. The GFTZ not only underlines South China’s status as one of the most 
important economic hubs in East Asia, but will also promote further integration between Guangdong, Hong Kong and 
Macao.
 
As always, the South China Chapter is committed to contributing to South China’s ambitions to drive the region’s 
economic development to the next level. 

We thank you for your continued support and hope that the recommendations we make in this paper are received as 
being both helpful and constructive.

Alberto Vettoretti
Chairman
European Union Chamber of Commerce South China Chapter 

5 Analysis on the Status of Guangdong Population Development, Statistics Bureau of Guangdong Province, 20th March, 2014, viewed on 6th May, 2015, <http://www.gdstats.
gov.cn/>

6 The National Development and Reform Commission’s (NDRC’s) Outline of the Plan for the Reform and Development of the Pearl River Delta (2008–2020) presents these 
top priorities: (1) The modernisation of the industrial system and the overall development of the service sector, and capitalising on the role of SEZs in promoting reforms. (2) 
The development of independent innovation by expanding the network of industrial parks as well as research and development (R&D) capabilities. (3) Regional economic 
integration to expedite development in the surrounding areas by coordinating urban and rural development by leveraging the role of major cities. (4) The expansion of 
social services such as education, healthcare and subsidised housing. The PRD plan is often referred to as Guangdong's and, by association, South China’s 2020 goals. 
For the purposes of this paper we will refer to them as 'the 2020 goals'.
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About the Chamber

The European Union Chamber of Commerce in China (European Chamber) was founded in Beijing in October 2000, 
by 51 member companies that shared a goal of establishing a common voice for European businesses operating in 
China in various sectors. It is a member-driven, non-profit, fee-based organisation with a core structure of over 40 
working groups and fora. As the independent voice of European business in China, we seek greater market access 
and improved operating conditions for European companies.

The European Chamber now has nearly 1,800 members in seven chapters operating in nine cities: Beijing, Nanjing, 
Shanghai, Shenyang, South China (Guangzhou and Shenzhen), Southwest China (Chengdu and Chongqing) and 
Tianjin. Each chapter is managed at the local level by a local board reporting directly to the Executive Committee.

The European Chamber is recognised by the European Commission and the Chinese authorities as the official voice 
of European business in China, and is recognised as a foreign chamber of commerce by the Ministry of Commerce 
and the China Council for the Promotion of International Trade.

The South China (originally Pearl River Delta) Chapter of the European Chamber was first established in Guangzhou 
in June 2006, followed by a second office in Shenzhen in November 2007. Currently, the South China Chapter has 
more than 300 members covering the entire South China region including nine major cities: Guangzhou, Shenzhen, 
Dongguan, Foshan, Jiangmen, Huizhou, Zhuhai, Zhongshan, and Zhaoqing. It has five active working groups and 
four fora covering a range of industries and services strongly represented in the region. 

Its working groups cooperate closely with those in other chapters to provide input into the annual European Business 
in China Position Paper and other advocacy initiatives at a national and local level. For detailed information on the 
specific working groups and fora, and a breakdown of membership please refer to the annex of this paper.

The South China Chapter provides a platform for member companies and local authorities (i.e. provincial and 
municipal governments and bureaus) to meet and engage in constructive dialogue with each other. These regular 
meetings provide European companies with legislative updates and clarification of regulatory issues, and help to build 
a support system to deliver constructive solutions for industry problems. 

In 2014, the South China Chapter held over 30 government meetings. The most notable of these included a high-
level government meeting with the Deputy Secretary General of the People's Government of Guangzhou Municipality; 
a conference with the Guangdong Development and Reform Commission and Shenzhen Emissions Exchange on 
carbon emissions trading during the 8th Guangdong Regional Economy Development and Cooperation Conference; 
and an exclusive dialogue with the Vice Mayor of Zhongshan Municipal People's Government.

This South China Position Paper will be instrumental in helping us to organise even more dialogues between our 
members and the local government throughout 2015 – direct access to policy-makers and frequent regulatory 
updates are needed more than ever during these increasingly challenging times. 

Francine Hadjisotiriou
General Manager
South China Chapter
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I. Executive Summary

South China is a region of superlatives. It is home 
to Guangdong, China’s most populous province and 
the largest importer and exporter of goods, with the 
highest provincial gross domestic product (GDP), which 
surpasses that of Indonesia’s. Guangdong is home to 
China’s economic powerhouse, the Pearl River Delta 
(PRD)7 and the recently established Guangdong Free 
Trade Zone (GFTZ),8 and accounts for one tenth of 
China’s overall economic output. With rising labour costs, 
growing environmental demands and an overall attempt 
to promote Guangdong Province as a new destination for 
high-tech industries and modern services, South China 
finds itself at a crossroads: will the region be able to adjust 
to the realities and demands of today’s global business 
climate or will it fall behind? 

The pressure to remain competitive is higher than ever: 
according to a recent survey, higher regional labour costs 
will likely force over one third of manufacturers in the 
PRD to relocate to cheaper locations across Southeast 
Asia.9  After rapid growth, following Deng Xiaoping’s ‘open 
door’ policy and the establishment of special economic 
zones (SEZs) throughout the 1980s and 1990s, the 
region is now experiencing its slowest growth in twenty-
five years.10 South China’s economic success story 
is mainly concentrated around the nine major cities in 
Guangdong, but economic growth among them has 
been uneven: some cities along the north-south corridor 
(Shenzhen, Dongguan, Guangzhou) have developed from 
small villages into modern, vibrant destinations, while the 
eastern and western parts (Zhuhai, Zhongshan, Huizhou) 
have lagged behind. 

The time has come for South China to address its most 
pressing problems: evolving the regional economy from 
one based on traditional, labour-intensive manufacturing 
to one based on high-tech industries, and improving the 
quality of life across the region. 

Guangdong & PRD Fast Facts

Guangdong

2014 GDP: CNY 6,779 billion 

(EUR 954 billion – 45% of Italy’s (2013) 33% of 
France’s (2013) and 25% of Germany’s (2013)

Population: 105.9 million - 1.3 times the size 
of Germany’s, 1.6 times the size of France’s, 
and 1.7 times the size of Italy’s.

Size: 179,800 km2 – 60% of the size of Italy, 
50% of the size of Germany, 28% of the size 
of France.

PRD

GDP: EUR 663 billion – roughly the same size 
as Switzerland’s or the Netherland’s GDP. 

Size: 56,000 km2 – roughly the same size as 
Croatia.

Population: 9 cities, total population, 30.2 
million – roughly 50% of the size of the UK.

Sources: Guangdong Statistical Yearbook 
2014, viewed on 5th June,  2015, <http//www.
gdstats.gov.cn/tjnj/2014/directory/content.
html?02-01>

The World Bank IBRD-IDA GDP Databank, 
The World Bank, viewed on 5th June 2015, 
<http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.
MKTP.CD/countries/1W-FR>

7 Please refer to the Annex for a definition of the PRD.

8 Guangdong Free Trade Zone’s Official Launch with Three Main Areas Enjoying Provincial Level Legislative Privileges, Xinhua Net, 23rd April, 2014, viewed on 11th May, 
2015, <http://news.xinhuanet.com/city/2015-04/23/c_127724455.htm>

9 ASEAN countries to benefit from China’s waning competitiveness, Financial Times, 8th May, 2015, viewed on 15th May, 2015, <http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/37a4b088-
f582-11e4-bc6d-00144feab7de.html#axzz3aCTZCNPI>

10 Current annual GDP growth rates for South China still exceed the national average, though, as per Guangdong Statistics Yearbook 2014, Guangdong Statistical 
Information Net, viewed on 6th May, 2015  <http://www.gdstats.gov.cn/tjnj/2014/directory.html>
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11 The Third Plenum of the 18th Chinese Communist Party Congress was held in November 2013, and concluded with the promulgation of a document – aptly titled the 
Decision – laying out a comprehensive set of policies. Implementation of the Decision at both the central as well as the local municipal level in Beijing includes: granting 
the market a decisive role in resource allocation; kick-starting a gradual reform of state-owned enterprises (SOEs) towards greater efficiency and market-based decision-
making; a devolving of taxation and fiscal authority to local government; further liberalising the financial sector and achieving more sustainable urbanisation.

12 Which are the world's friendliest and unfriendliest cities?, CNN.com, 21st August, 2013, viewed on 23rd March, 2015, http://edition.cnn.com/2013/08/07/travel/unfriendly-
cities/

13 The Reputation Institute, a global private consulting firm, ranks the world’s 100 most reputable cities based on a number of variables such as trust, respect, administrative 
effectiveness and ease of conducting business. According to their 2014 report, Guangzhou ranks 82nd among the world’s most reputable cities, lagging behind four other 
Chinese cities: Hong Kong (56th), Macau (78th), Shanghai (80th), and Beijing (81st), viewed on 1st April, 2015, < http://www.reputationinstitute.com/thought-leadership/
complimentary-reports-2014>

14 118 Thousand Foreigners Living in Guangzhou, Japanese and Korean are the Top Two Largest Groups, Xinkuaibao, 1st December, 2014, viewed on 21st May, 2015, 
<http://epaper.xkb.com.cn/view/968112>

15 Identity and the Foreign Population in Hong Kong, moon.com, 21st March, 2014, viewed on 19th May, 2015, <http://moon.com/2014/03/identity-and-the-foreign-population-
in-hong-kong/>

China’s overarching national reform plans, as laid out in the Third Plenum Decision (Decision),11 however, provide 
hope that many of these constraints may be overcome. With both decentralisation and deregulation highlighted in the 
Decision, South China could find itself with the requisite power and autonomy to speed up the implementation of its 
2020 goals. 

Status quo: a region of contradictions

The ‘factory of the world’, as Guangdong is widely known, has benefited from an endless influx of cheap migrant 
workers from other provinces and a sometimes lax attitude towards compliance by local authorities. Guangdong 
quickly grew into a major supplier of light industry products such as textiles, food, beverages and toys. 

While the commercial successes of the region are laudable, South China’s cities do not enjoy a very positive 
reputation for liveability. Guangzhou and Shenzhen were ranked in the top 20 of Condé Nast Traveller magazine’s 
list of the world’s most unfriendly cities in 2013.12 The South China region as a whole has the unwanted reputation of 
being a major contributor to the black market for counterfeit goods – a reputation that persists around the globe13 despite 
concerted efforts by the local government to turn this around over the past five years. 

The∙way∙forward∙for∙South∙China:∙improving∙the∙‘three∙flows’

In this time of transition the local government has already launched a number of initiatives to make it easier for the 
public at large and foreign investors to conduct business. These changes range from the establishment of new 
subway lines in the city hubs and updating the overall regional infrastructure, to the promotion of arbitration and 
mediation for intellectual property (IP) matters as well as initial efforts to further develop regional social services and 
improve overall living conditions.

But to truly ready itself for the next phase of its development, South China needs to improve upon the ‘three flows’: 
the flow of people, goods and services, and information.

To make the most of South China’s potential in the 21st Century, the local government should:

• lower the barriers for migrant workers and foreigners to enter the region, improve overall labour market conditions 
and ensure a stable and comfortable infrastructure alongside sustainable environmental conditions. Guangzhou 
currently has a foreign population of only 118,000 or roughly 1.3 per cent of the total city population,14 while 
foreigners account for five per cent of the total population of neighbouring Hong Kong;15
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• improve communication with and coordination by customs – prospective importers and exporters should be 
provided with user guides in English and the local government should also curb non-compliance and ensure timely 
payments; and

• increase overall Internet speed and guarantee a free flow of commercially relevant information to establish 
Guangdong as a technological centre of excellence. China’s average Internet speed in 2014 was 3.52 megabits per 
second (Mb/s) – compared to Hong Kong’s 16.3 Mb/s there is clearly a lot of room for improvement. 

The proposed 2020 goals present a unique opportunity for South China to attract substantial investments across the 
region – as it currently stands, many companies that could greatly contribute to regional growth have no choice but 
to leave.16 While traditionally South China has attempted to emulate Hong Kong’s model for incorporating economic 
reforms, the region is slowly but surely starting to follow its own path, with all the difficulties that entails: other areas 
across China such as the China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone (CSPFTZ) are also struggling to implement 
significant reforms and to adjust to new market realties and demands.17

Thus far, South China has played an instrumental role in China’s impressive economic development. It successfully 
partook in the first wave of economic reforms and set the stage for further development in the years ahead. But as 
markets, consumer demands and industry standards develop the whole region now has to reinvent itself to address 
the needs of China and the world at large. The establishment of new FTZs and a nurturing and business-friendly 
environment, as well as consistent compliance procedures, are at the heart of the economic development of South 
China.18

If South China wants to achieve its ambitious goals, it will have to invest more in the expansion of the recently 
established GFTZ and ensure a balanced and well-planned overall improvement across the whole region. 

16 European Business in China Business Confidence Survey 2015, European Chamber of Commerce in China, 2015, viewed on 23rd May, 2015, <http://www.
europeanchamber.com.cn/en/publications-business-confidence-survey>

17 Shanghai Position Paper 2014/2015, European Chamber of Commerce in China, 20th January, 2015, viewed on 3rd May, 2015, <http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/cms/
page/en/publications-local-position-paper/237> 

18 The 12th Five-Year Plan of Guangdong Province, People’s Government of Guangdong Province, 19th April, 2011, viewed on 5th May, 2015, <http://www.newsgd.com/
specials/12th   Five-Year/default.htm>



South China Position Paper

South China Position Paper

7

South China Position Paper
中国欧盟商会华南建议书 2015 /2016

II. Key Recommendations
1. Brand South China as a Fully Integrated 

Region 

Concern 
European investors often overlook many cities in South 
China in favour of Beijing, Hong Kong and Shanghai. 

Assessment  
Despite the fact that some of the more negative 
perceptions of the region’s marketplace still linger, 
Guangzhou and Shenzhen continue to rank as the 
top two cities in Forbes China’s list of best cities for 
business.19

19 Top 10 best cities for business in China, China Daily USA, 16th January, 2015, 
viewed on 24th March, 2015, <http://usa.chinadaily.com.cn/business/2015-01/16/
content_19333003.htm>

1. Brand South China as a Fully Integrated Region 
2. Prosecute Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) Offences and Improve 

Transparency of IPR Enforcement Decisions 
3. Develop a More Transparent and Talent-Oriented Labour Market
4. Establish More Professional Contact Points for Foreign Investors in South 

China
5. Simplify the Application Procedures for Foreign Employees’ Visas and Work 

Permits
6. Improve Regulatory Transparency and Ensure Consistent Implementation of 

Policies Across all Cities in South China
7. Provide a Better Environment for the Establishment and Development of 

Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs) in the Region and Facilitate 
Wider Market Access for Them 

8. Improve Overall Quality of Life Across the Region 
9. Improve Customs Regulations in South China
10. Increase Internet Speed and Ease Internet Censorship

Key Recommendations

The Chinese Government has expressed a strong 
interest in tackling negative perceptions and building 
on this positive image to brand South China as an 
economic zone of services, information technology 
and high-technology. To facilitate a change in focus 
and attract high-tech and services companies, it is 
necessary to provide facilities and incentives to channel 
the transformation. The South China Chapter finds that 
South China municipalities are competing with rather 
than being complementary to each other. For instance, 
Shenzhen has built its reputation as a high-tech city and 
continues to reinforce this image, while Guangzhou, with 
the aim of changing perceptions of it being a city of low-
end manufacturing to one that is more eco-friendly, also 
promotes itself as an attractive location for high-tech 
industry. 
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Recommendations  

• Play a coordinating role to help each city in South 
China to formulate a targeted development strategy 
alongside a distinct image to set each location apart. 

• Provide up-to-date information in English on the 
websites of the investment promotion bureaus, 
customs, human resources and social security bureaus 
and other administrative bodies.

2. Prosecute Intellectual Property 
Rights (IPR) Offences and Improve 
Transparency of IPR Enforcement 
Decisions  

Concern 
Ineffective enforcement of IPR laws in South China and 
not regularly publishing IPR enforcement decisions send 
the wrong message to rightful IPR owners, which is 
detrimental to the region’s reputation as a destination for 
investment.

Assessment 
In 2011, the Guangdong Provincial Government initiated 
a campaign against IPR infringement, particularly in the 
area of anti-counterfeiting.20 However, campaigns are 
usually short-lived policy tools that highlight the problem 
without actually solving it. A majority of European 
businesses (56%) surveyed as part of the annual 
European Chamber Business Confidence Survey believe 
that the level of IPR enforcement is inadequate.21 This 
number is even higher when specifically analysing South 
China data, with an overall figure of 63%.22 

Enforcement of judgements remains a challenge 
as many defendants in IPR cases often choose to 
ignore injunctions as they are not subject to efficient 
court sanctions. This undermines the authority of the 
court, erodes the value of law and suggests that the 
IPR environment in South China is still in need of an 
overhaul. 

20 Guangdong will step up campaign to protect IPR, China Daily, 4th September, 
2011, viewed on 5th May, 2015, <http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/m/cip/2011-04/09/
content_12304680.htm>

21 European Business in China Business Confidence Survey 2015, European 
Chamber of Commerce in China, 2015, p.37, viewed on 23rd May, 2015, <http://
www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/publications-business-confidence-survey>

22 This information is taken from the South China chapter-specific data breakdown 
of the European Business in China Business Confidence Survey 2015, 
European Chamber of Commerce in China, 2015. More information available 
upon request. 

23 Review of IPR Protection in China, China Intellectual Right Net, 7th January, 
2015, viewed on 5th May, 2015, <http://www.iprchn.com/Index_NewsContent.
aspx?newsId=80487>

Article 313 of the Criminal Law provides that those 
who refuse to comply with a court order can face a 
fine, detention or imprisonment. The law states that 
the judge responsible for the case may decide whether 
non-compliance is a serious enough issue to warrant 
contempt of court proceedings. However, the breach of 
an injunction in IP cases has so far not been deemed 
serious enough for this to happen. Articles 114-115 of 
the Civil Procedure Law (1st January 2013 amendment) 
provide penalties for obstruction of justice or refusal to 
comply with the execution of a judgement. The South 
China Chapter suggests that courts should make full use 
of these provisions in the law to ensure that it can give 
the requisite weight to its orders and judgements. 

Only a select few judicial decisions on IPR cases in 
South China are publicly available, whereas Beijing 
recently decided to publish this information.23 Companies 
with a record of multiple IPR infringements are therefore 
not exposed and continue to operate. Limited access 
to these decisions also causes discrepancies in the 
issuance of penalties and fines between different cities 
in South China. Publication of IPR infringements may in 
itself form a deterrent to companies that do not wish to 
attract a reputation as infringers or repeat violators. 

For civil and criminal courts,  very few  judgements 
from the IP trial chambers are publicly available, as 
evidenced on the IP civil decision database, www.ciela.
cn. Article 156 of the Civil Procedure Law (1st January 
2013 amendment) provides for public access to all 
legally-effective judgements and orders (except for 
those that affect state secrets, commercial secrets or 
personal privacy), thus establishing a clear legal basis 
for transparency in the judicial system. 
 
Meanwhile Shanghai, with its large and active foreign 
business and research and development (R&D) 
community, is home to the CSPFTZ, which has its own 
IP tribunal. Shanghai is also home to the Chinese Courts 
International Exchange Base for Judicial Protection 
of Intellectual Property Rights, which opened on 25th 
September, 2014, and promises to support a wide range 
of IPR judicial exchanges and educational efforts.
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24 Strike at world's largest sports shoe maker in Dongguan, China, Libcom.org, 
24th April, 2014, viewed on 5th May, 2015, <http://libcom.org/blog/strike-worlds-
largest-sport-shoe-maker-dongguan-china-24042014>

25 Review of IPR Protection in China, China Intellectual Right Net, 7th January, 
2015, viewed on 5th May, 2015 <http://www.iprchn.com/Index_NewsContent.
aspx?newsId=80487>

On 31st August, 2014, the NPC’s Standing Committee 
enacted a decision to establish specialised IP courts in 
Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou. These courts are 
intended to be a three-year experiment in adjudicating 
technologically complex cases. They will adjudicate 
both first- and second-instance cases in both civil 
and administrative matters. The South China Chapter 
welcomes these announcements, as well as the effort 
made to promote arbitration and mediation for IP matters 
in Shanghai, and hopes that similar IPR reforms will be 
forthcoming throughout the whole of South China. 

Recommendations

• Reinforce courts' authority against IPR counterfeiters, 
imposing harsher penalties against offenders as per 
the new Civil Procedure Law if need be. 

• Ensure overall adherence to the law by making IPR 
enforcement decisions from administrative and judicial 
organs available to the public.

3. Develop a More Transparent and Talent-
Oriented Labour Market

Concern 
South China’s labour market is compromised by 
frequent disputes and suffers from a shortage of talent 
with engineering and technical skills, both of which are 
obstacles to attracting and growing innovative companies 
with long-term investments in the region. 

Assessment 
Labour disputes remain an on-going challenge for 
many employers in South China, including European 
companies. Incomplete legal provisions and insufficient 
clarity in the interpretation of the Labour Contract Law 
has led to an increase in the frequency of cases of 
employees acting in bad faith to take advantage of 
the protection of the law and abuse their employment 
terms.24 In practice, many employers face a lack of 
support from the Public Security Bureau during labour 
disputes,25 even in cases where minor criminal offenses 
have been committed by their employees. 

Although an employer may win a labour dispute case 
in Guangdong Province, the motivation to protect the 
rights of the employee as the weaker party often remains 
inside and outside of the court. European companies 
adhere to the provision of compensation for work-
related injuries; however, the exact terms and the level 
of compensation is unclear. There is a need for the 
standardisation and definition of the terms and conditions 
of various work-related injuries to be set by the Labour 
Bureau. This situation could be improved by publishing 
labour arbitration awards on the local government’s 
official website and suggesting real jurisprudence case 
sharing as references. Such information would help to 
raise awareness of both employers and employees when 
resolving labour disputes. If this issue is not dealt with 
effectively labour disputes will continue to be a blot on 
South China’s investment landscape.  

A lack of talent possessing engineering and technical 
skills is also an obstacle for the economic growth of 
innovative enterprises with long-term investments in 
South China. As South China’s production value chain 
goes higher, there is an increased demand for highly-
qualified senior engineers from high-tech industry to 
work in R&D centres and advanced manufacturing. The 
establishment of more technical vocational schools and 
colleges would allow for the development of skills in 
Guangdong’s target industries. This will be extremely 
important if South China is to successfully transform itself 
from factory to high-tech hub, as per the 2020 goals.

Recommendations

• Ensure transparency in labour disputes and extend the 
same fair treatment towards employers as is afforded 
to employees. 

• Provide funding for the establishment of more technical 
vocational schools and implement incentives for 
companies to be able to develop and provide technical 
training for their employees.

4. Establish More Professional Contact 
Points for Foreign Investors in South 
China.

Concern 
European investors overlook South China as a 
destination for foreign direct investment (FDI) because 
language barriers and cultural differences make it difficult 
to effectively communicate and conduct business. 
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Assessment 
European foreign-invested enterprises (FIEs) only 
account for: 1.63 per cent of the total number of FIEs; 
3.17 per cent of the total amount of contracted FDI; and 
3.78 per cent of the actual FDI in Guangdong Province.26 

The low number speak for themselves: European 
businesses could be investing much more, but South 
China has not yet managed to cultivate an image as a 
prime destination for investment. 

Conversely, the recent inaugural decision by the Foshan 
Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation Bureau to 
hire several foreigners to work directly for the Foshan 
Investment Promotion Agency has garnered a lot of 
positive attention from around the globe.27 By allowing 
foreigners to be employed in such a capacity by the 
Chinese Government,  overall entry points for foreigners 
to engage with the Chinese market will increase and 
concurrently eliminate the universal issue of language 
barriers, as well as a lack of translated regulations and 
forms.  

South China should invest resources and (foreign) 
manpower to create a more streamlined information 
infrastructure that directly caters to foreigners: this 
includes involving native-speakers in concerted efforts to 
translate regulations and necessary forms into English (if 
not other languages); updating all the relevant websites 
and online applications so foreigners can effortlessly 
navigate them; and hiring more local, foreign staff that 
have a sound understanding of the Chinese market and 
the needs of foreign businesses. 

Recommendations

• Following the Foshan model, hire more qualified 
foreigners to directly conduct business on behalf 
the Chinese Government to attract more foreign 
investment.

• Create an extensive information infrastructure that 
caters directly to the needs of foreigners.

26 From a meeting between the European Chamber South China Chapter and the 
Department of Commerce of Guangdong Province (DOFCOM), 29th January, 
2015, viewed on 23rd March, 2015, http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/upload/
events/attachements/Meeting_summary_DOFCOM_20150129%5B1379%5D.
pdf

27 In One Chinese City, These Foreigners Are Working As Government 
Bureaucrats, Wall Street Journal, 5th June, 2014, viewed on 5th May, 2015, 
<http://blogs.wsj.com/chinarealtime/2014/06/05/in-one-chinese-city-these-
foreigners-are-working-as-government-bureaucrats/>

28 Obtaining a Multi-Year Employment Permit in China, China Briefing, 10th 
February, 2015, viewed on 20th May, 2015, <http://www.china-briefing.com/
news/2015/02/10/obtaining-multi-year-employment-permit-china.html>

29 Regulations of the People’s Administration of the Entry and Exit of Foreigners, 
China Consular Affairs Official Website, promulgated on 1st September, 2013, 
viewed on 5th May, 2015,  <http://cs.mfa.gov.cn/zlbg/flfg/crjxg/t1060665.shtml>

5. Simplify the Application Procedures for 
Foreign Employees’ Visas and Work 
Permits

Concern 
Although new foreign workers are urgently needed, visa 
processing times have recently been increased from 
three to five working days, to a total of fifteen working 
days, and the new visa categories have created an 
added layer of complexity for companies that employ 
foreign workers – in many cases the visa processing 
time exceeds the allocated timeframe of fifteen working 
days. What's more, visa regulations across South China 
are inconsistent.28

Assessment 
China’s new regulations on the Administration of the 
Entry and Exit of Foreigners29 entered into effect on 
1st September, 2013. They provide further clarification 
regarding implementation of the new Exit-Entry 
Administration Law. New visa categories have been 
expanded from eight to 12 in order to allow foreigners 
to more clearly state their purpose for residing in China. 
The South China Chapter acknowledges the efforts 
by the Public Security Bureau to provide clarification, 
however, further improvements are needed to the time 
it currently takes to process visas and work permits. 
Positively addressing this issue would likely help to 
attract more foreign talent and skilled professionals 
to work and reside in South China. According to the 
Business Confidence Survey 2015, conducted by the 
European Chamber, more than half of South China 
Chapter member companies (52 per cent) would hire 
more foreign nationals if the visa restrictions were more 
relaxed.

This issue not only affects FIEs but also Chinese 
companies that employ foreigners or conduct business 
with European companies. For example, young foreign 
graduates who have studied Chinese and have extensive 
technical know-how could make invaluable contributions to 
helping transform Shenzhen into the next Silicon Valley with 
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30 City Market Supervision Bureau and the Municipal State Taxation Bureau, 
Municipal Local Taxation Bureau, Municipal Public Security Bureau About 
the Shenzhen Municipality Notice on Implementation of ‘Integrating the Four 
Certificates’ Including the Business Licence, Organisation Code Certificate, 
Tx Registration Certificate and Engraved Chapter Permit (translation), Market 
and Quality Supervision Commission of Shenzhen Municipality, 28th November, 
2014, viewed on 21st May, 2015, <http://www.szscjg.gov.cn/xxgk/qt/ztlm/szdj/
wylj/tzgg/201411/t20141128_2714617.htm>

 Please note that as of 1st June, 2015, the Corporate Social Insurance Registration 
(for newly setup companies) has been combined with the Business Registration, 
Enterprise Code Certificate Registration, Chop Making Registration and Tax 
Registration in Shenzhen. In effect, the ‘four certificates in one application (四证合

一)’ policy has been upgraded to the ‘five certificates in one application (五证合一)’ 
policy. For more details, please refer to the official announcement <http://www.
szscjg.gov.cn/xxgk/qt/tzgg/zcdj/201506/t20150601_2891650.htm>

31 Ibid.

Chinese characteristics. However, current visas regulations 
require them to have two years of work experience 
overseas before they are eligible for employment in China. 
This seriously hinders the cultivation of foreign talent that 
could help to accelerate South China’s growth. Overall 
rising labour costs present another challenge, and finding, 
attracting, training and retaining staff is expected to become 
even more difficult in the next few years as costs for local 
staff continue to rise. 

By addressing the visa issue, ensuring transparency in 
labour disputes and effectively responding to the rise in 
labour costs, South China’s improved labour market would 
contribute to creating a much more welcoming general 
environment for European businesses while simultaneously 
improving the situation for domestically-owned businesses. 
The South China Chapter urges the authorities to respect 
the right of all companies to select and employ any foreign 
talent they believe is right for the position, provided 
minimum legal requirements are respected.

Recommendations

• Reduce the time it takes to process visas and work 
permits from 15 to seven days.

• Improve the formal interview process for initial 
residence permit applications. 

• Respect the right of all companies to select and employ 
any foreign talent they believe is right for the position, 
provided all minimum legal requirements are met.

6. Improve Regulatory Transparency and 
Ensure Consistent Implementation of 
Policies Across all Cities in South China

Concern 
Inconsistent implementation of policies across different 
cit ies leads to the misinterpretation of laws and 
regulations by many companies, which can place them 
at risk of being non-compliant.  

Assessment 
Although the State Council Legislative Affairs Office 
(SCLAO) and the National People’s Congress (NPC) 
have made progress in increasing the transparency 
of new regulations, only 66 per cent of laws passed 
in 2013 were posted on the NPC website during the 
drafting period. Less than 10 per cent of administrative 
regulations and department rules were posted on the 
SCLAO website and government agency websites for 

the public to comment.30 Laws and regulations are often 
implemented or interpreted differently by municipal 
government authorities in cities across South China 
and these inconsistencies create confusion amongst 
European businesses who need to ensure that they are 
fully compliant with Chinese laws.

Inconsistent application of policies can also lead to 
administrative approval processes in certain cities 
in South China being less favourable than in others. 
For example, business licences in Shenzhen can be 
obtained within five working days, whereas the same 
licence in Guangzhou takes fifteen working days.31 This 
is counter to official plans to brand South China as a fully 
integrated region.

At the same time, FIEs face an increasing number 
of investigations that have alarmed investors with an 
uptick of unannounced audits—especially by the tax, fire 
inspection and labour bureaus—and an overall increase 
in operational obstacles. As the feeling grows among 
European businesses that FIEs are increasingly targeted 
to collect fines rather than to restrain and stop non-
compliant businesses, the South China Chapter believes 
that the government needs to do more to further level the 
playing field.

Recommendations

• Provide advanced notice on the implementation and 
collection of social contribution fees in the different 
cities in South China.

• Improve transparency in the implementation of new 
regulations by publishing draft regulations at the 
provincial and municipal level and ensuring a sufficient 
amount of time for public consultations and for any 
comments to be properly considered and incorporated 
prior to implementation.
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• Ensure policies are implemented consistently across 
all the different cities in South China.

7. Provide a Better Environment for the 
Establishment and Development of 
Small and Medium-sized Enterprises 
(SMEs) in the Region and Facilitate 
Wider Market Access for Them 

Concern 
European SMEs operating in South China face market 
access challenges that hinder their development and 
lessen the contribution they can make to economic 
growth in the EU and China.

Assessment 
The Guangdong Provincial Government has consistently 
placed emphasis on shif t ing the economy from 
one based on manufacturing to one based on high 
technology and modern services. China’s 12th Five-Year 
Plan, as well as the local strategies of Shenzhen, focus 
on the development of an Internet- and service-based 
industry in the coming years.32 European SMEs provide 
a vital source of innovation and development in South 
China’s priority sectors, but currently lack information on 
existing policies to support their investments.

European SMEs are a natural source of innovation and 
already have an extensive presence in South China 
through cooperation with domestic Chinese companies, 
but are now increasingly looking for opportunities 
to invest and expand into the Chinese market. 
However, they are unable to easily access Chinese 
customers, which significantly reduces their potential for 
collaboration in terms of technological cooperation and 
best practice sharing.

While the Guangdong Provincial Government has 
already made significant headway in easing overall 
conditions for SMEs by granting them value-added tax 
(VAT) exemptions, the administrative burdens when 
creating SMEs still negatively impacts the government’s 
ambit ion to refocus the local economy on high 
technology sectors. 

By implementing specific benefits for SMEs and start-
ups (such as making the cost of mandatory training tax-
deductible), providing platforms for European SMEs 
to meet potential Chinese clients and by centralising 
information on regional and local investment incentive 
policies South China could position itself as a prime 
location for European investment. 

Market access barriers remain one of the key challenges 
faced by European Chamber member companies in 
South China, according to the European Chamber’s 
China Business Confidence Survey 2015.33 The survey 
also concluded that competing against non-compliant 
competitors continues to obstruct European businesses’ 
operations in South China. 

Recommendations

• Centralise information on regional and local investment 
incentive policies for European SMEs with the option 
to search for specific government policies by business 
sector.

• Provide more platforms for European SMEs to meet 
potential Chinese clients—both firms and individuals—
as well as platforms accessible to local and European 
SMEs located in South China.

• Implement specific benefits for SMEs and start-ups 
to ease the burden of mandatory training costs for 
European SMEs (make related training costs tax-
deductible).

8. Improve Overall Quality of Life Across 
the Region 

Concern 
Despite the fact that South China is becoming 
increasingly internationalised, basic services including 
education and medical care have not yet reached 
international standards, which is a huge deterrent to 
attracting and retaining foreign talent in the region.  

Assessment 
According to the Sixth National Population Census of 
the People’s Republic of China (2010 Chinese Census), 
the number of foreign residents in Guangdong reached 

32 Policy Presentation on Fostering Shenzhen-Hong Kong Cooperation in Qianhai, 
Qianhai News, viewed on 11th May, 2015, <http://www.szqh.com.cn/What_is_
Qianhai/News_Promotion_Event/201503/t20150327_1503482.shtml>

33 European Business in China Business Confidence Survey 2015, European 
Chamber of Commerce in China, 2015, viewed on 23rd March, 2015, <http://
www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/publications-business-confidence-survey>
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34 Sixth National Population Census of the People’s Republic of China (2010 
Chinese Census) viewed on 23rd May, 2015, <http://www.stats.gov.cn/tjsj/pcsj/
rkpc/6rp/indexch.htm>

35 China Quick Facts, Asia Briefing by Dezan Shira & Associates, viewed on 15th 

May, 2015, <http://www.asiabriefing.com/regional-intelligence/china#>
36 Expats call for better medical services, Shenzhen Daily, 27th January, 2015, 

viewed on 23rd March, 2015, <http://www.szdaily.com/content/2015-01/27/
content_11108223.htm>

74,411,34 out of a total of roughly half a million foreigners 
living on the Chinese mainland. 35

Despite the relatively large number of foreigners living in 
Guangdong, the standards of social services available 
to the international community are low. Currently, a lot of 
foreign Guangdong residents use the established service 
infrastructure in Hong Kong as a ‘backup’ solution, but 
this of course is not sustainable in the long-term. 

In terms of medical services, a lack of foreign hospitals 
and the complexity of procedures related to insurance 
claims is severely affecting the daily lives of foreign 
residents in South China. While more than twenty 
international hospitals are in operation in Beijing and 
Shanghai there are only eight in Guangzhou and two 
in Shenzhen. In addition, health insurance claims are 
usually expensive and complicated for foreigners who 
have to conduct a lot of business travel.

The development of social services and overall better 
living conditions—including the establishment of more 
international schools, international clinics for foreigners 
and entertainment businesses—were identified as key to 
ensuring continued economic growth across Guangdong, 
in the provincial 12th Five-Year Plan. This is extremely 
encouraging for a region that is becoming increasingly 
internationalised. According to a January 2015 Shenzhen 
Daily article,36 the number of international residents 
in Shenzhen has been steadily growing. A 2013 city 
government census determined that Shenzhen has 
about 26,000 long-term international residents while 
international residents living in the city for a short 
term exceeded one million, with more than 7.8 million 
international visitors every year.

However, certain highly visible areas still fall below 
international standards. For example, the tourism sector 
still needs to be adjusted to cope with the demands of 
the global economy: hotels struggle to maintain business 
all year round; and at Guangzhou Baiyun International 
Airport, an airport with a passenger volume of almost 60 

million people per year, all shops close at 21:30, leaving 
travellers with no distractions to bridge long waiting 
times – conditions that are unfit for a major international 
travel hub. Also, the overall licensing process for 
foreign-owned restaurants and shops continues to be 
complicated and opaque, as applicants in South China 
face a lot of scrutiny and lengthy approval processes. 
Many foreigners opt to set up their business via local 
Chinese companies instead to avoid these problems. By 
addressing these issues swiftly the region’s quality of life 
could be enhanced.

Recommendations

• Encourage the establishment of nationally-accredited 
international schools in South China. 

• Establish more international hospitals and foreign 
wards of domestic Chinese hospitals to serve South 
China’s ever-increasing international community. 

• Improve coverage of worldwide group health plans to 
simplify insurance claims procedures.

9. Improve Customs Regulations in South 
China

Concern 
The efficiency of customs verification remains the key 
concern of European companies engaged in cross-
border logistics.

Assessment 
According to statistics from China's Ministry of Transport 
(MOT) in December 2014, the port handling capacity of 
Guangzhou Port was 438 million tons, while Shenzhen 
Port’s was 200 million tons over the same period.37 In the 
first half of 2014, the average time required for customs 
clearance processes for imported goods in South China 
was 22.6 hours with the average time for exported goods 
clocking in at 2.5 hours.38  Given that the efficiency of 
logistics is essential to the operation and development 
strategies of many European companies, the speed of 
customs clearance in South China has clearly not yet 
met the needs of international trading. Concurrently, 
international and domestic customers should have the 
opportunity to submit online inquiries and access up-

37 November 2014 Handling Capacity of Ports in Guangdong, Guangdong Port 
Authority, 27th December 2014, viewed on 15th May, 2015 <http://www.phagd.
org//portreport/25047.htm>

38 World Bank Logistics Performance Index, World Bank, viewed on 15th May, 
2015 <http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/LP.LPI.OVRL.XQ/countries>
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to-date information for their shipments. Currently, there 
is no virtual infrastructure in place to handle any such 
requests. 

Corruption, redundant procedures and inconsistencies 
between different ports in South China are the main 
factors that are producing low efficiency in customs 
verification. To combat customs corruption, the National 
Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) 
promulgated the Interim Measures of the Officer 
Rotation Work.39 Under these measures, customs 
officers at different levels are required to rotate after a 
certain period of time. While the South China Chapter 
appreciates efforts to combat corruption, there is a 
concern that officer rotation may result in low efficiency 
as customs officers would likely be unfamiliar with the 
operations of the new function they have inherited.

10.  Increase Internet Speed and Ease 
Internet Censorship

Concern 
Slow Internet speeds and Internet censorship in South 
China adversely affects the development and regular 
operations of European business.

Assessment 
According to China Internet in 2013 – Content-aware 
Data Report,40 Guangdong had the most Internet users, 
accounting for nearly 15 per cent of China’s total Internet 
population. Moreover, Internet user activity in Guangdong 
was at a high level, yet average Internet connection 
speeds in Guangdong rank only ninth in China at 3.5 Mb/s 
– Shanghai is the fastest with an average connection 
speeds up to 5.4 Mb/s. These speeds, however, pale in 
comparison to Hong Kong’s 16.3 Mb/s or South Korea’s 
23 Mb/s.41

Advanced technology plays an essential role in R&D in 
South China. Low Internet speeds negatively affect the 
free flow of information and companies in South China 
cannot react efficiently. Authorities restrict access to 

certain overseas websites on the Chinese mainland, not 
only social media sites—which affects residents’ quality 
of life—but also web tools that are crucial for conducting 
business. Many companies used a virtual private 
network (VPN) to get around this problem by bypassing 
Internet filters in China, however, in January 2015 the 
Chinese authorities further tightened control causing 
major disruptions to foreign VPN services. 

Essentially, this means that companies are not able to 
carry out R&D to best of their capabilities, which reduces 
efficiency and impacts their bottom line. This was borne 
out in the European Chamber’s Survey on the Economic 
Impact of Internet Restrictions on Foreign Business in 
China. Eighty-one per cent of respondents said that 
Internet instability, slowness and/or the lack of access 
to certain websites in China had a negative economic 
impact on their internal processes—including R&D—
in terms of increased waiting times, repeated trials, a 
complete inability to communicate, run searches and do 
research. Thirteen per cent of companies responded that 
they had either deferred R&D plans, or were unwilling to 
invest further in R&D in China due to Internet slowness 
and restrictions.42 The ability for companies to be able to 
properly carry out R&D in South China is crucial to the 
region’s ambitions to establish its economy as one based 
on high-tech manufacturing and services.

If South China wants to establish itself as a prime 
location for high tech industries it needs a carefully 
planned and executed R&D network. Increasing Internet 
speeds and establishing free public Internet access will 
play a major role in jumpstarting this development. 

Overall, there is an increased demand for highly-qualified 
senior engineers from high-tech industries including R&D 
centres and advanced manufacturing. The establishment 
of more technical vocational schools and colleges will 
facilitate skill development within South China’s target 
industries as identified in the 2020 goals.

The HSBC Global China Research Institute cautioned as 
early as September 2013, that Guangdong needs more 
overall R&D support. And while R&D expenditure has 
been growing at a compound annual growth rate of 22 

39 Cadre Rotation Review by the NDRC, China Reform News, viewed on 11th May, 
2015, <http://rss.ndrc.gov.cn/gzdt/201503/t20150303_666273.html> 

40 China Internet in 2013 Content-aware Data Report, China Web Report, viewed 
11th May, 2015, <http://www.chinawebreport.com/images/PDF/2013CIR.pdf>

41 Akamai’s State of the Internet, Q2 2014 Report, Volume 7, Number 2, Akamai 
Technologies, viewed on 11th May, 2015, <http://www.economiza.com/wp-
content/uploads/akamai-soti-a4-q214.pdf>

42 Survey on the Economic Impact of Internet Restrictions on Foreign Business in 
China, European Chamber of Commerce in China, 12th February, 2015, viewed 
27th April, 2015, <http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/national-news/2237>
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43 Re-tuning the growth engine, An updated guide to the wealth and influence 
of China’s regions, provinces and cities, HSBC Global China Research, 1st 

September, 2013, viewed on 1st April, 2015,<https://www.research.hsbc.com>

per cent since 2000, compared with a 12 per cent real 
GDP growth rate, Guangdong is still far behind Beijing 
and Shanghai in terms of overall research institutions 
across the province. 43

Recommendations

• Increase average Internet speeds in South China by 
upgrading network devices and the cabling system to 
fibre optic technology, especially in business centres 
and office buildings.

• Make it compulsory to bind speed measurement 
devices to Internet-access cards and mobi le 
communication equipment, making Internet speeds 
transparent to users.

• Allow free flow of commercially relevant information in 
South China, by enabling access to services such as 
Dropbox, Gmail and Google Maps.
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III.∙Business∙Confidence∙Survey

Financial performance presents a better picture in South China (SC) compared to the rest 
of China

South China Chapter member companies’ EBIT margins in China are unfavourable 
compared to their global average

120150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

Financial performance presents a better picture in SC than in overall
China

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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SOUTH CHINA OVERALL
> 73% of SC 

companies
report a year-
on-year
increase in 
revenue, 
representing a 
19-point 
increase from
2014

> Only 7% of SC 
companies
report a year-
on-year
decrease in 
revenue, 
representing a 
5-point increase
from 2014

220150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

Compared to the overall average, a higher percentage of SC-
chaptered companies underperform their global EBIT margin levels

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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Comparison of China EBIT margins with worldwide margins (2014-2015)

Note: In 2015, individuals responding on behalf of a representative office were not asked this question

> Almost half of the SC-
chaptered companies 
had lower EBIT margin 
levels in China than 
worldwide, a 1-point 
increase compared to 
last year
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South∙China∙companies’∙current∙optimism∙about∙outlook∙on∙profitability∙is∙similar∙to∙
China-wide∙average,∙but∙shows∙a∙significant∙14-point∙drop∙compared∙to∙2013∙figures

420150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

SC companies stand at a similar level of optimism than overall 
average when outlook on profitability in China is concerned

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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> The trend of declining 

optimism on 
profitability is even 
clearer for SC-
chaptered companies 
with a 14-point 
decrease since 2013 
compared to only 1-
point decrease for the 
overall average

Business outlook on profitability in China (2013-2015)
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SOUTH CHINA OVERALL

South China companies follow the overall trend of declining optimism about growth in 
China

320150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

SC companies follow the overall trend of declining optimism about 
growth in China

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis

22% 27%
34%

71% 68%
58%

5% 8%6%

100%

20152014

100%

2013

99% > Optimism about growth 
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One third of South China companies put China investments on hold – similar to the 
overall average and a 25-point increase compared to 2013

620150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

One third of SC companies puts investment on hold in China, which 
is similar to the overall level

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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> This year marks a further 
polarisation between 
companies that are 
bullish or bearish on their 
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increase compared to 
26% in 2014
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SOUTH CHINA OVERALL

South China companies rank the Chinese economic slowdown among their main 
business∙challenges,∙but∙percentage∙is∙significantly∙less∙than∙China’s∙overall∙average

520150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

SC companies are sensitive to a protracting Chinese economic 
slowdown that they rank among the main business challenges 

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis

OVERALL - TOP 10 CHALLENGES

Challenges for future business in China the most frequently reported among the top 3 
(2015)

Note: The percentages shown are the cumulated percentages of  top 1, 2 and 3 challenges. 

SOUTH CHINA - TOP 10 CHALLENGES
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Rising labour costs

Market access barriers  and
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> The Chinese economic slowdown is the challenge for future business in China the second most frequently 
ranked among the top three by SC companies at 32% this year
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Compared to the overall average, more South China companies are in China to serve 
external markets

820150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

As compared to the overall average, more SC companies are in 
China to serve external markets 

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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Strategic reasons to operate in China (2015)

> More than half of SC 
companies (53%) 
report that their 
primary strategic 
reason for 
operating in China 
is to provide goods 
and services to the 
Chinese market

> At the same time a 
solid 36% produce
goods in China but 
sell them abroad vs. 
only 16% for the 
overall average
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SOUTH CHINA OVERALL

South China companies are more tempted to shift their investments to other markets 
compared to the overall average

720150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

SC companies are more tempted to shift their investments to other 
markets as compared to the overall average

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis

Investment shift to other markets (2014-2015)
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> The number of SC
companies shifting 
investments from China 
to other markets has 
increased by 17 points 
from last year to 24% in 
2015

> This represents an 8-point 
difference compared to the 
overall average of 16%.  

SOUTH CHINA OVERALL
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South China companies are fully aligned with the overall average on the impact of 
restrictions to Internet access

1020150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

SC companies are fully aligned with the panel average when asked 
about the impact of restriction to Internet access

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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cited by SC-
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sharing 
information 
followed by the 
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productivity 
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More South China companies engage in R&D in China than the overall average

920150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

More SC companies engage in R&D in China than the overall 
average

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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R&D centre in 
China
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More∙South∙China-chaptered∙companies∙are∙dissatisfied∙by∙the∙level∙of∙protection∙
guaranteed by enforcement of IPR laws in China compared to the overall average

1220150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

More SC chaptered companies are dissatisfied by the level of 
protection guaranteed by IPR laws' enforcement in China 

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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SOUTH CHINA OVERALL

> 63% of European 
companies judge 
enforcement of 
IPR laws as 
inadequate

> This represents a 
6-point drop 
from 2014 vs. a 
9-point drop in the 
overall panel

A similar percentage of South China companies judge written IPR laws to be adequate or 
excellent, compared to the overall average

1120150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

A similar percentage of SC companies judge written IPR laws as 
adequate or excellent

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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In line with the overall average, South China companies perceive environmental 
protection measures in China as weak

1420150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

In line with the average of the panel, SC companies perceive the 
environmental protection measures in China as weak

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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> Only 23% of SC companies rated the Chinese 
Government's environmental protection measures 
as strong vs. 19% of the overall panel

> European companies lack confidence in the current 
state of environmental protection in China
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More South China companies compared to the overall average perceive unfavourable 
treatment compared to domestic Chinese companies

1320150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

More SC companies than the group average perceive unfavourable 
treatment compared to domestic Chinese companies

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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Government as 
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If greater market access were granted, fewer South China companies would increase 
their investments when compared to the overall average

1620150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

If greater market access were granted, fewer SC companies than 
the overall average would increase their investments

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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> 52% of SC-chaptered 
companies indicate that 
they would be more 
likely to increase 
investment in China if 
greater market access 
were granted to foreign 
companies in their 
industry, vs. 60% of 
overall results

> This represents a 9-
point increase from 
2014
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South China companies' human resources are less impacted by air pollution than the 
overall average

1520150515_BCS 2015_SC_ppt presentation.pptx

SC companies' human resources are less impacted by air pollution 
than the overall average

Source: BCS 2015, Roland Berger analysis
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Air pollution remains a top HR challenge to attract and retain talent (2014-2015)

RETAINING TALENT
> 54% cite air quality 

issues among their 
top three 
challenges to 
attracting foreign 
talent to China, a 
significant 15-point 
increase from 2014

> Only 33% of SC 
companies list air 
quality issues 
among their top 
three challenges to 
retaining foreign 
talent vs. 63% of 
overall average2014 2015
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IV. The South China Region
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Although South China is currently undergoing a period of 
overall growth slowdown—much like the rest of China—
as a region, it possesses many advantages: it features 
a dynamic business environment that has produced 
commercial giants such as Huawei, Tencent and ZTE; it 
is home to several FTZs and to one of China’s economic 
powerhouses, the Pearl River Delta (PRD), which has a 
GDP of EUR 663 billion45 – roughly the same as Turkey 
or the Netherlands.46 It also has a number of commercial 
hotspots that, even if China’s overall economy is going 
to continue to slow, are likely to ensure continued 
productivity gains to sustain overall growth.47 In 2014, 
Guangzhou and Shenzhen achieved respective GDP 
growth rates of 8.648 and 8.549 per cent, both notably 
above China’s national average.50

44 Guangdong Statistics Yearbook 2014, viewed on 5th May, 2015,  <http://www.
gdstats.gov.cn/tjnj/2014/directory.html> 

45 Ibid

46 The World Bank Data: GDP, 2010-2014, The World Bank, viewed on 5th May, 
2015, <http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.PP.CD?order=wbapi_
data_value_2012%20wbapi_data_value%20wbapi_data_value-last&sort=desc>

47 Which China Are We Talking About?, Silk Road Associates China Insider, 6th 
December, 2013, viewed on 12th April, 2015, http://www.silkroadassoc.com/
research/download.php?f=SRA-20131206-106.pdf

48 2010 Guangzhou Economic and Social Development Statistics Bulletin, 
Guangzhou Municipal Bureau of Statistics, 8th April, 2011, viewed on 29th April, 
2015, <http://www.gzstats.gov.cn/tjfx/gztjfs/201104/t20110411_24947.htm>

49 Shenzhen's GDP per capita reached 149.5 thousand Yuan in 2014 which ranked 
the first among all sub-provincial cities (in Chinese). China Economic Net, 5th 
February, 2015,  viewed on 11th May, 2015,  <http://district.ce.cn/zg/201502/05/
t20150205_4527300.shtml> 50 Ibid

South China is equipped for success due to three main 
reasons:

1) Guangdong’s strategic location, with proximity to Hong 
Kong.

2) South China is one of the most successful and 
dynamic city-clusters in China. It already boasts 
significant economic output that the government is 
actively looking to reshape and upgrade.

3) It is home to the GFTZ, which consists of three 
strategic, flourishing areas – Nansha, Qianhai-Shekou 
and Hengqin.

The region’s willingness to change and adapt is reflected 
by the difference in the composition of Guangdong’s 
GDP between 1978 and 2013, which is the first 
year when the service sector officially exceeded the 
manufacturing industry: its primary industry decreased 
from 29.8 per cent to 4.9 per cent of the total volume, 
while over the same period the tertiary industry rose from 
23.6 per to 47.8 per cent of GDP in 2013.

44



South China Position Paper

South China Position Paper

25

South China Position Paper
中国欧盟商会华南建议书 2015 /2016

51 The Outline of the Plan for the Reform and Development of the Pearl River Delta 
(2008–2020), December 2008, viewed on 29th April, 2015, <http://www.china.
org.cn/government/scio-press-conferences/2009-01/08/content_17075239.htm>

52 Ibid

53 Ibid

54 Guangdong Statistical Yearbook 2013 (Industry) , Guangzhou Municipal Bureau 
of Statistics, 1st March, 2013, viewed on 5th May, 2015,  <http://www.gdstats.gov.
cn/tjnj/2013/directory/012.html>

55 About HZMB – Project Overview, Hong Kong–Zhuhai–Macao Bridge, Related 
Bridge Project, 1st January, 2010, viewed on 5th May, 2015, <http://www.hzmb.
hk/eng/about_overview_01.html>

56 Wong, Peter, Guangdong Looks Inland for the Next Growth Spurt, South China 
Morning Post, 23rd December, 2014, viewed on 11th May, 2015, <http://www.
scmp.com/comment/insight-opinion/article/1667755/guangdong-looks-inland-
next-growth-spurt>

57 Ibid

58 Guangdong plans for development with rural focus, Xinhua Net, 9th August, 2013, 
viewed on 11th May, 2015, <http://news.xinhuanet.com/english/china/2013-08/09/
c_132615380.htm>

59 Ibid

The 2020 goals

South China has long been at the forefront of economic 
reform and social development since Deng Xiaoping’s 
economic initiatives in the late 1970s. In the spirit of this 
tradition, the NDRC released the Outline of the Plan 
for the Reform and Development of the Pearl River 
Delta (2008–2020).51 The plan not only identifies the 
PRD as an experimental area for scientific, high-tech 
development, but also sets up a strategy for developing 
modern economic models and encourages balanced 
growth between Guangdong’s urban and rural areas.52

The goal: from ‘world’s factory’ to ‘high-
tech hub’ by 2020

By 2020, Guangdong endeavours to be a globally-
renowned, competitive area for modern services and 
high-tech industries, and a model economic area 
across the Asia-Pacific region.53 However, a strong 
manufacturing tradition continues to permeate all corners 
of Guangdong Province. 54

The plan promotes the integration of Guangdong, Hong 
Kong and Macau through infrastructure projects and 
advanced regulations, and foresees a general trend of 
opening up of Guangdong’s markets to international 
investors. By making full use of the already-existing 
infrastructure and port facilities, Guangdong plans 
to focus on developing capital- and technology-
intensive industries such as automotive, iron and steel, 
petrochemicals, shipbuilding and electronics. 

The plan is contingent upon success in three key areas:

1) Connecting South China: cross-regional transportation 
networks and Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau 
integration

The Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Yanjiang Expressway  
opened to traff ic on 28th December, 2013. This 
development, alongside extensive expansions of 

the intercity rail network, means that links between 
Guangzhou, Dongguan and Shenzhen have already 
been dramatically improved.

In the near future, Hong Kong and Guangdong will be 
even more closely connected. The construction of the 
Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macau Bridge will bring the Western 
PRD within a three-hour commuting radius of Hong 
Kong.55

The Hong Kong Government is committed to aiding 
the development of the PRD and cooperating closely 
with the Guangdong Provincial Government to fully 
liberalise trade and services between Hong Kong 
and Guangdong.56 While Hong Kong was traditionally 
cons idered the  d isp lay  w indow for  the  goods 
manufactured in South China, both regions are now 
refocussing their strategies by integrating their respective 
industries, expanding mainland financial services and 
establishing a Guangdong-Hong Kong financial platform. 

2) Relocating labour-intensive manufacturing to South 
China’s rural areas

As the overall income level of Guangdong’s urban 
areas is rising alongside rents in the city, labour-
intensive companies are starting to consider relocating 
to the growing rural areas to cut costs. Increasingly, 
businesses in Guangdong realise that they don’t have 
to face a trade-off between urban and rural areas: both 
sides of Guangdong’s economy are becoming more 
complementary.57

Eager to tap into this potential, the Guangdong 
Government has earmarked more than CNY 672 
billion (EUR 89 billion) for the development of rural 
infrastructure by 2020.58 Hong Kong has supported this 
by acting as a source of private capital to support the 
establishment of new townships and industrial parks in 
rural areas in South China.59
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3) Making the most of the GFTZ

The establ ished FTZs are keys to the region’s 
development, as the government is committed to 
creating an overarching city-cluster in South China. Such 
city-clusters have more flexibility vis-à-vis the central 
government’s policy objectives, while continuously 
undertaking local reforms.  

One example of such city clusters is the GFTZ. 
Established on 21st April, 2015, it covers an area of 120 
square kilometres and includes parts of Guangzhou’s 
Nansha New Area, Qianhai-Shekou in Shenzhen, as well 
as Hengqin in Zhuhai.60 Activities within the GFTZ will be 
overseen by a coordination authority with provincial-level 
powers to coordinate policies. 

Each area has a different focus:

• Nansha wi l l  be ded icated to  deve lop ing the 
manufacturing and modern service sectors, including 
shipping logistics, high-tech innovation and leisure 
tourism, automobiles and shipbuilding, taking 
advantage of its central location in the PRD.

• Qianhai-Shekou, in close cooperation with Hong Kong, 
will take on reform measures in finance, taxation, 
the legal system, education, medical treatment and 
telecommunications. 

• Hengqin will serve as a pilot programme for policies 
to boost regional economic integration, especially 
cooperation with Macau. 

A closer look at the GFTZ

Since its launch, the GFTZ has already benefitted from a 
number of preferential tax treatments and infrastructure 
improvements. Some new policies across the different 
parts of Guangdong could benefit European companies 
and South China at large. 

(a)  New policies in Qianhai-Shekou

The overall development plan for the Qianhai-Shekou 
Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone in Qianhai 

60 Guangdong Free Trade Zone’s Official Launch with Three Main Areas Enjoying 
Provincial Level Legislative Privileges, Xinhua Net, 23rd April, 2014, viewed on 
11th May, 2015, <http://news.xinhuanet.com/city/2015-04/23/c_127724455.htm>

was approved by the State Council in August 2010.61  
Around 14,000 firms have been established in Qianhai-
Shekou, of which over 50 enterprises are ranked in the 
world's top 500.62 In April 2014, the zone launched its 
special preferential tax policies handed down by the 
Ministry of Finance (MOF). 63

To attract even more business from home and abroad, 
the Qianhai-Shekou authorities have streamlined 
tax reporting procedures and established several 
communication channels between tax authorities and 
businesses. 

(b)  New policies in Nansha

The Management Reform on Foreign Exchange 
Capital Settlement of Foreign-Invested Enterprises,64  

promulgated by the State Administration of Foreign 
Exchange (SAFE), designated Nansha District as 
one of sixteen areas that will pilot reforms on the 
management of foreign investments in China. This is 
the only area of its kind in Guangdong. Foreign-invested 
enterprises in Nansha will enjoy the same benefits 
as those in the CSPFTZ. This decision is intended to 
ensure that Nansha will soon catch up to Shenzhen in 
terms of its financial infrastructure, R&D capacity and 
telecommunications network.

The reforms on foreign investment in Nansha aim to: 

• Encourage FIEs to make settlements in foreign 
exchange and capital;

• Allow FIEs to use settlement funds in domestic equity 
investments;

• Simplify the bank payment checking process within 
respective enterprise settlement funds; and

• Facilitate settlement funds and its use in exchange 
accounts under other direct invest items.

61 Strategic Positioning of Shenzhen and Qianhai, Qianhai International Liaison 
Service Limited, 12th February, 2010, viewed on 11th May, 2015, <http://www.
szqh.com.cn/Why_Qianhai/Strategic_Positioning/>.

62 Shenzhen Qianhai: A Magnet for Investors, CRI English News, 15th October, 2014, 
viewed on 11th May, 2015, <http://english.cri.cn/12394/2014/10/05/53s846578.
htm>

63 MOF/SAIC: Announcement on Preferential Corporate Tax Policies and 
Categories in Guangdong Hengqin New Area, Fujian Pingtan Experimental 
Area, and Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service Industry Cooperation 
Zone. (in Chinese) Tax and Finance [2014] No. 26, Shenzhen Municipal Bureau, 
11th April, 2014, viewed on 19th May, 2015, <http://www.szqh.gov.cn/tzqh/yhzc/
qysdsyh/>

64 Management Reform on Foreign Exchange Capital Settlement of Foreign 
Invested Enterprises, NanSha International, 7th August, 2014, viewed on 11th 
May, 2015, <http://www.gzns.gov.cn/nsxx/nsxw/201408/t20140807_131654.htm>
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These reforms are intended to create speci f ic 
advantages, such as: 

• Meeting the needs of operating capital and improving 
the implementation of domestic equity investments;

• Avoiding the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations; 
and

• Strengthening the authorities’ verification in RMB 
settlements and monitoring the use of exchange. 

(c) New policies in Hengqin

Hengqin New Area is planned as a model for close 
cooperation between Guangdong, Hong Kong and 
Macao. According to the Overall Development Plan of 
Hengqin,65 approved by the State Council in August 
2009, the island is expected to have a population of 
120,000, with CNY 120,000 (EUR 17,000) GDP per 
capita by 2015, and CNY 280,000 (EUR 39,000) GDP 
per capita by 2020. 

In July 2011, through the issuance of the Reply of the 
State Council on Relevant Policies for the Development 
of Hengqin (the Reply), the State Council committed to 
implementing a special policy that is “more preferential 
than special economic zones”66 in Hengqin. Many of the 
specific policies, particularly on taxation, are intended to 
boost the region’s inter-provincial trade and commerce to 
increase the potential for international investment. 

As stressed in the Reply, Hengqin will reduce 15 per 
cent of the corporate income tax for qualified businesses, 
referring to the Category of Market Access and 
Preferential Manufacturing Industries, which will soon 
be laid down in detail by the NDRC, the MOF and other 
relevant national finance departments.67 This policy will 
benefit various business sectors, including tourism and 
leisure, business services, financial services, cultural 
industries, traditional Chinese medical healthcare, 
science and technology development, and new and 
high-technology. Within applicable business sectors, 
the Reply has also granted a tax exemption on VAT and 
consumption tax on inter-corporate trade and sourcing.68

For custom duties, the Reply specifies tax exemptions 
on the importation of manufacturing-related goods, with 
the exclusion of consumer goods and goods related to 
commercial real estate development. New industries, 
including electronic information, biological medicine, 
new energy, environmental protection and aerospace 
manufacturing, will enjoy a duty-free policy. 

In terms of policies aimed at aiding the recruitment 
and retention of professional talent, the Reply outlines 
an income tax subsidy for individuals that reside in 
Hong Kong or Macao but work in Hengqin. It effectively 
guarantees them the same tax rate that they would enjoy 
in their place of residence. In addition, the Hengqin 
authorities have been given free rein to approve 
foreign investment training institutions and will actively 
support educational institutions on the mainland to run 
cooperation schools with educational institutions from 
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and other overseas regions.

65 Institutional innovation enhances Hengqin's competitiveness, China.org.cn, 20th 
March, 2015, viewed on 11th May, 2015, <http://en.hengqin.gov.cn/ftz/2015-
03/20/content_35162147.htm>

66 Reply of the State Council on Relevant Policies for the Development of 
Hengqin, National Development and Reform Commission, 14 th July, 2014, 
viewed on 30th April, 2015,  <http://www.sdpc.gov.cn/fzgggz/dqjj/qyzc/201108/
t20110810_427924.html>

67  Ibid
68  Ibid
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V. Annex

1. European Chamber South China Membership Breakdown
 South China Chapter Membership Composition (MNCs/SMEs)

The South China Chapter has more than 300 members.

South China Chapter Membership Composition (Services/Manufacturing)

49%

48%

3%

South China Membership Breakdown

MNCs
SMEs
Consulates

56%

41%

3%

Membership by Sector

Services

Manufacturing

Consulates
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South China Chapter Membership Composition (Main Industries)

5% 6%
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8%

12%
14%

14%

26%

Services

Education 5%

HR/Training 6%

Legal/Tax 7%

Certification Services 8%

Logistics 8%

Hotel 12%

Consultancy 14%

Trade/Distribution/Sourcing 14%

Other Services 26%

6% 8%
10%

15%

20%

41%

Manufacturing

Medical Equipment 6%

Automotive 8%

Chemicals 10%

Electrical/ Electronics 15%

Machinery/ Machine Parts 20%

Other Manufacturing 41%
(covering several industries)
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South China Chapter Membership Composition (top 6 nationalities)
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Top 6 Nationalities
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Others 23%
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2. European Chamber Structure

 Chamber Overall Structure

South China Chapter Structure

Supervisory Board

EU Ambassador as Chair
28 State Representatives delegated 
from National Chambers or Embassies                               
(3 elected to the Executive Committee)

Members/ 
Working Groups

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
President 
Treasurer
3 Elected Vice Presidents
1 Co-opted  Vice Presidents (SH)
3 State Representatives
1 Secretary General 

SECRETARY GENERAL*

TIANJIN
Chapter

SOUTHWEST
CHINA Chapter

NANJING
Chapter

SHENYANG
Chapter

SOUTH CHINA*
Chapter

FinanceHR

BEIJING*
Chapter

SHANGHAI*
Chapter

European Chamber Overall Structure

Local Boards

* ManCo (Management Committee)

 
 

Executive Committee 

South China Chapter Board 

SECRETARY GENERAL 

Adam Dunnett 

HR Finance 

General Manager  

Francine Hadjisotiriou 

Business & 

Government Affairs 

Department 

 

Anna Rudawska 

(GZ) 

Angel Zhang 

(SZ) 

 

Interns 

 

 

Marketing 

Department 

 

Vera Xie 
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Rachel Chen  

(GZ) 
 

Interns 

 

 

Membership 
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Michal Loubel 

(SZ) 
Olga Ivashchenko 
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Operation 
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Vera Xie 

(SZ) 
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3. Local Board Members 
 The duration of the current South China Board is from April 2015 to April 2016.

Chairman

Vice Chairman

Alberto Vettoretti
Dezan Shira & Associates

Vivian Desmonts
DS Avocats Law Firm

Board Member

Dr Huaiyu Pan
Siemens Shenzhen Magnetic Resonance Ltd

Sandra Fuld
International SOS 

Donato Vairo
Meta System Electronics (Shenzhen) Co Ltd

Saul Vazquez
Gates Management

Yushun Wong
TÜV Rheinland (Guangdong) Ltd
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4. European Chamber South China Staff

Michal Loubel
Membership Manager 

Michal is the key contact for members and develops membership mainly in Shenzhen, Dongguan 
and Zhuhai.

Francine Hadjisotiriou 
General Manager 

Francine is responsible for the implementation and the development of the European Chamber’s 
objectives, visibility, membership and lobbying activities on a regional level.

Anna Rudawska
Deputy Manager 

Anna manages the Legal and Taxation, Intellectual Property Rights and Environment working 
groups; and the Human Resources and Sourcing fora.

Angel Zhang
Business and Government Affairs Coordinator 

Angel manages the Logistics and Standards & Conformity Assessment working groups; and the 
Manufacturing and Small and Medium-sized Enterprises fora.

Olga Ivashchenko 
Membership Manager 

Olga is the key contact for members and develops the membership mainly in Guangzhou, Foshan, 
Nansha, Zhongshan, Jiangmen and Kaiping.

Rachel Chen
Sponsorship and Events Manager 

Rachel is responsible for sponsorship and advertising in South China, as well as social events in 
Guangzhou. She is also responsible for the Privilege Membership and the Privilege Partnership 
programmes.

Vera Xie
Marketing and Office Manager 

Vera is responsible for assisting the General Manager and has a South China role in marketing and 
media. She is also in charge of the social events in Shenzhen.
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5. European Chamber South China Chapter Working Groups and Fora 

All the working groups and fora in South China are created to cater to our members’ interests. Each working group/
fora is coordinated across China as a whole, but events are tailored based on the different needs of members from 
each chapter.

(1)  Environment Working Group 
http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/working-groups-forums-desks/19/environment

The Environment Working Group was established in 2006, and currently consists of more than 140 member 
companies involved in engineering, manufacturing, construction and certification services. They represent a diversity 
of industry sectors, including waste, water, smart grid, chemicals and pharmaceuticals and logistics among others. 
Environmental technology service providers and consultancies working with due diligence, environmental compliance 
and legal services also take part.

The working group serves as a channel to engage government stakeholders, particularly the Ministry of 
Environmental Protection (MEP) and its local bureaus, and to provide support to and feedback on environmental 
regulations, standards and technologies in China. Additionally, it provides a platform for companies to share best 
practices, experiences, solutions and recommendations on environmental protection. The working group has held 
events in cooperation with the Municipal Environmental Protection Bureau on environmental law and green supply 
chain management and regularly invites environmental experts from government, think tanks and research institutes 
to present at working group meetings and events.

(2)  Human Resources Working Group
http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/working-groups-forums-desks/63/human-resources

The European Chamber’s Human Resources (HR) Working Group is currently active in five European Chamber 
Chapters (Beijing, Nanjing, South China, Shanghai and Southwest China). The working group is composed of a wide 
range of HR professionals from European multinational corporations (MNCs) and small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs) involved in a variety of industries. The working group represents European companies employing a significant 
number of people who contribute to social security funds and tax receipts, as well as HR service providers across 
China. The working group aims to provide a platform to exchange information, experiences and best practice 
among member companies, as well as promote awareness of HR and labour-related issues across industries. The 
working group is an event-driven platform that regularly delivers seminars and training sessions of interest to HR 
professionals, including the hosting of annual HR conferences in Beijing and Shanghai.

(3)  Intellectual Property Rights Working Group
http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/working-groups-forums-desks/48/intellectual-property-rights

The Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) Working Group represents a range of European interests in intellectual property 
regulatory framework and IPR enforcement in China. Around half of the working group’s 200 plus members are from 
outside the professional services industry, for example, high-end consumer product industries, with the remaining 
members from legal and consulting firms. Over the last 10 years, the working group has witnessed China’s efforts to 
curb the dramatic increase of IPR violations that affect its economic order, its innovative capacity and the rights of its 
consumers. The working group serves as a bridge between Chinese governmental agencies and judicial officials and 
European businesses and continually offers its assistance and support via suggestions and recommendations aimed 
at improving the efficiency and effectiveness of China’s IPR protection efforts.
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(4)  Legal and Taxation Working Group
http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/working-groups-forums-desks/31/legal-taxation
The Legal and Taxation Working Group aims to foster greater legal and taxation transparency and awareness of legal 
and taxation developments affecting foreign investment and trade in China. The working group has established ties 
with various organisations and government bodies, such as the Ministry of Justice (MOJ), the Ministry of Commerce 
(MOFCOM), the State Administration for Industry and Commerce (SAIC), the National Development and Reform 
Commission (NDRC), the National People’s Congress (NPC), the Legislative Affairs Office of the State Council 
(SCLAO), the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission (CIETAC), the Guangzhou Taxation 
Bureau, the Shenzhen Taxation Bureau and the Qianhai Taxation Bureau. 

The working group consists of lawyers from European-based law firms registered with the MOJ, European lawyers 
working in other foreign law firms registered with the MOJ or from Chinese law firms, as well as in-house counsel for 
European corporate entities with a presence within China.

(5)  Logistics Working Group
http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/working-groups-forums-desks/34/logistics 

The Logistics Working Group was founded in 2003, and represents a diverse spectrum of logistics service providers 
in freight forwarding, including sea, air and land; express delivery; warehousing and distribution as well as customs 
brokerage; transportation services; contract logistics, logistics managers and consumers of logistics services from 
different sectors. At present, more than 150 member companies participate in the working group, which currently 
operates not only in South China, which is a hub for logistics, but also in Beijing and Shanghai.

The working group provides a platform for companies to discuss and share best practices, experiences and 
recommendations and to assess and review the regulatory framework of the logistics industry. It maintains a 
constructive dialogue with relevant government stakeholders in China and Europe to provide support to and feedback 
on industry regulations and standards.

(6)  Manufacturing Forum
http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/working-groups-forums-desks/62/manufacturing-forum

The Manufacturing Forum was established in November 2012 in South China. Due to the importance of South China 
as a European manufacturing base, manufacturing companies often choose it as the location to establish their only 
entity in China.

The forum operates in five local cities including Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Dongguan, Zhongshan and Zhuhai. Regular 
Manufacturing General Manager Round-table Meetings (or ‘working tables’) are organised in each city on different 
topics. Company visits and case studies are also within the agenda of this forum. The forum aims to build a common 
platform where members can share experiences and opinions on common issues. After compiling issues and 
concerns, working group members meet with relevant government agencies at municipal or district level to express 
their concerns, raise awareness about business obstacles and seek support. The forum is also responsible for 
seminars on specific topics dedicated to manufacturing management. 

The forum contributes to relevant topics such as the environment, energy and IPR, which involve a broader scope of 
discussions with other relevant industries. The Manufacturing Forum brings an additional valuable dimension to these 
topics. 
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(7)  Small and Medium-sized Enterprise Forum
http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/working-groups-forums-desks/50/small-medium-sized-enterprises-forum

The Small and Medium-sized Enterprise Forum was established in 2005, to act as a platform for European SMEs 
to share experiences and provide practical information to support their business success in China. Forum members 
come from a wide range of industries. Relevant stakeholders include European and Chinese government officials and 
SME support services such as the EU SME Centre and China IPR SME Helpdesk.

The European Union (EU) defines SMEs as having up to 250 employees and EUR 50 million annual turnover. The 
EU has more than 20 million SMEs who employ over two thirds of the workforce. Many such companies wish to 
internationalise operations into the Chinese market.

The aim of the forum is to provide a strong network for companies doing business in China in order to share 
resources and to gather and disseminate information on the regulatory environment. The forum cooperates with  
relevant European Chamber working groups to ensure the specific requirements and concerns of SMEs are voiced 
through the Chamber’s lobbying activities. 

In 2012, the European Chamber held its first annual SME Conference: Practical Solutions to Help You Think Big, 
which attracted over 100 participants. The 2013 APEC SME Summit was held from 19th – 20th December in Shenzhen. 

(8)  Sourcing Forum
http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/working-groups-forums-desks/58/sourcing-forum#

The Sourcing Forum was established by the European Chamber in 2006. The forum comprises over 150 member 
companies from various industries and is attended mainly by purchasing professionals. It responds to the interests of 
European enterprises sourcing a wide range of products in China, including consumer goods, equipment and tools, 
production materials, office materials and others. It also attracts experts from legal and financial services.

The Sourcing Forum is an event-driven platform that regularly invites professionals in the field to make presentations, 
while providing opportunities for round-table discussions. The aim of the forum is to facilitate the exchange of 
information, experiences, best practices and business opportunities among member companies. The forum generally 
addresses issues relating to challenges and solutions for sustainable supplier relations as well as price trends and 
quality of materials. Since its establishment, the Sourcing Forum has covered a significant number of topics, including 
supplier development, project planning for purchasing operations, supplier negotiations, purchasing logistics and 
supply chain management.

In 2014/2015, the Sourcing Forum is focusing on providing information about the new challenges and rising issues 
in supply chain and purchasing operations. Three major Sourcing Forum Conferences were held in Guangzhou: 
Strategies to Survive in a More Expensive China in February 2014, Best Practices for Managing Suppliers in 
November 2014, and Profitable Sourcing in China – Cost of Quality in March 2015.

(9)  Standards and Conformity Assessment Working Group
http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/working-groups-forums-desks/51/standards-conformity-assessment

The Standards and Conformity Assessment Working Group was founded in 2008, and is made up of standardisation 
and conformity assessment experts from sectors such as automotive, auto components, construction, cosmetics, 
health-care equipment, electrical equipment, information and communication technology (ICT) equipment/services, 
and machinery.

The working group aims to support the development of China’s standardisation and conformity assessment systems 
and thereby facilitate China’s integration into the world economy. It is an effective information exchange platform with 
the Shenzhen Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine (SZCIQ) Bureau. 
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6. Government Links

6.1 Governments in South China

The municipal governments mentioned below meet on a regular basis with the European Chamber, together with its 
members, to provide updates on regulations and their implementation, and for constructive dialogue on impediments 
to conducting business during Q&A working sessions. 

The People's Government of Guangdong Province
http://www.gd.gov.cn/govpub/ld/

The People's Government of Guangzhou Municipality
http://www.gz.gov.cn/publicfiles/business/htmlfiles/szzy/index.html

The People's Government of Shenzhen Municipality
http://www.sz.gov.cn/cn/sz/sz/xq/

The People's Government of Dongguan Municipality
http://xxgk.dg.gov.cn/publicfiles/business/htmlfiles/0000/p1.2/201404/744891.htm

The People's Government of Foshan Municipality
http://www.foshan.gov.cn/zwgk/ldzc/

The People's Government of Jiangmen Municipality
http://www.jiangmen.gov.cn/zwgk/ldzc/ldcy/

The People's Government of Huizhou Municipality
http://www1.huizhou.gov.cn/pages/cms/huizhou/html/xxgk_ldzc.html

The People's Government of Zhuhai Municipality
http://www.zhuhai.gov.cn/xxgk/szzc/hnk/

The People's Government of Zhongshan Municipality
http://www.zs.gov.cn/main/zwgk/mayor/index.action?id=124212
http://www.zs.gov.cn/main/zwgk/open/view/index.action?id=93117

The People's Government of Zhaoqing Municipality
http://www.zhaoqing.gov.cn/zwgk/ldzc2011/ldjs/

6.2 Bureaus in Guangdong

Guangdong Local Taxation Bureau
http://www.gdltax.gov.cn/

Guangzhou Municipal Local Taxation Bureau
http://www.gzds.gov.cn/

Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau
http://www.szds.gov.cn/
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Guangdong Provincial Human Resources and Social Security Department
http://www.gdhrss.gov.cn/

Shenzhen Human Resources and Social Security Bureau
http://www.szhrss.gov.cn/

Guangzhou Municipal Human Resources and Social Security Bureau
http://www.hrssgz.gov.cn/

Guangdong Provincial Public Security Department
http://www.gdga.gov.cn/

Guangzhou Municipal Public Security Bureau
http://www.gzjd.gov.cn/index.html

Shenzhen Public Security Bureau
http://www.szga.gov.cn/

Guangdong Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau
http://www.gdciq.gov.cn/

Guangzhou Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau
http://www.gz.gdciq.gov.cn/

Shenzhen Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau
http://www.szciq.gov.cn/

Guangdong Provincial Administration for Industry & Commerce
http://www.gdgs.gov.cn/

Guangzhou Municipal Administration for Industry & Commerce
http://www.gzaic.gov.cn/

Shenzhen Municipal Administration for Industry & Commerce
http://www.szaic.gov.cn/

Guangdong Sub-Administration of China Customs
http://guangdong_sub.customs.gov.cn/publish/portal91/

Guangzhou Customs District People’s Republic of China
http://guangzhou.customs.gov.cn/publish/portal31/

Shenzhen Customs District People’s Republic of China
http://shenzhen.customs.gov.cn/publish/portal109/

Invest Guangzhou
http://www.investguangzhou.gov.cn/web/bg/jsp/index.jsp

Invest Shenzhen
http://www.szinvest.gov.cn/
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Invest Dongguan
http://www.dgfipc.gov.cn/publicfiles/business/htmlfiles/tzdg/index.htm

Invest Foshan
http://www.investfoshan.gov.cn/

Invest Zhongshan
http://www.izs.gov.cn/main/

Invest Zhuhai
http://www.investzhuhai.gov.cn/

7. Consulates of European Countries in Guangzhou 

The South China Chapter has built a constructive relationship with European Countries’ Consulates General in 
Guangzhou over the years. The European Chamber may serve as an information provider when our members have 
certain issues and are not sure from which specific consulate they should seek help.

The Presidency of the Council of the European Union, from July 2014 was held by Italy. The successive presidency, 
from 2014 to 2015, was also held by Italy (incumbent). Latvia will hold the office from January to June 2015, and 
Luxembourg will hold office from July to December 2015.

EU member states with a Consulate General established in Guangzhou:

Austria
http://www.advantageaustria.org/cn/Oesterreich-in-China.en.html

Belgium
www.diplomatie.be/guangzhou 

Britain
www.ukinchina.fco.gov.uk

Denmark
www.gkguangzhou.um.dk

France
http://www.consulfrance-canton.org

Germany
www.kanton.diplo.de

Greece
http://www.mfa.gr/www.mfa.gr/AuthoritiesAbroad/Asia/China/GeneralConsulateGuangzhou/en-US/

Italy
www.ice.gov.it/estero2/canton

The Netherlands
www.hollandinchina.org
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Poland
http://www.kantonkg.polemb.net/index.php?document=18

Spain
http://www.ivex.es/home.html

Other European (Non-EU) Countries with a Consulate General established in Guangzhou:

Norway
www.norway.cn/guangzhou

Switzerland
http://www.eda.admin.ch/eda/en/home/reps/asia/vchn/cncggh.html
 

8. Regulations Index

The Outline of the Plan for the Reform and Development of the Pearl River Delta (2008-2020) 
http://www.gz.gov.cn/publicfiles/business/htmlfiles/gzgoven/s3711/201103/776329.html

General∙Office∙of∙the∙People's∙Government∙of∙Guangdong∙Province∙on∙the∙issuance∙of∙the∙ Implementation 
Plan 2014 PRD Key Tasks
http://www.gdaudit.gov.cn/infoview.jsp?info_id=8da91671-20ce-4673-91ab-632c733be946

9.∙ Definition∙of∙Terms∙of∙the∙Region

South China:69 There are two translations of South China – one is Huanan (华南), the other is Nanfang (南方). In this 
South China Position Paper, we are referring to Huanan.

Huanan is a geographical region including Guangdong Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, Hainan 
Province, Hong Kong Special Administration Region and Macao Special Administration Region.   

Nanfang is a geographical and cultural region that covers the southernmost part of China. In the broadest sense, 
Southern China can denote the entire portion of the country south of the line demarcated by the Qin Mountains and 
Huai River.

Guangdong:70  Guangdong is a province on the South China Sea coast of the People’s Republic of China.

Pearl River Delta (PRD):71 The PRD, also known as the Golden Delta of Guangdong, is formed by three major rivers, 
the Xijiang (West River), the Beijiang (North River) and the Dongjiang (East River).  

The PRD has been one of the most economically dynamic regions of the PRC since the launch of China’s reform 
programme in 1979. With an annual GDP of 13.45 per cent over three decades since 1978, it is 3.5 percentage points 
higher than the national average. 

The definition of the PRD was first put forward by the Guangdong Provincial Party Committee at the seventh session 

69 China Historical Geographical Information Systems Project, Harvard University, viewed on 1st May 2015,  <http://www.fas.harvard.edu/~chgis/>

70 An Overview of Guangdong Province, People’s Government of Guangdong, viewed on 1st May, 2015, <http://www.gd.gov.cn/gdgk/>

71  Pearl River Delta Reform and Development Plan (2008-2020), People’s Government of Guangdong, viewed on 1st May, 2015, <http://www.gd.gov.cn/ghgy/wjzl/201008/
t20100816_127492.htm>
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of the committee’s Third Plenary Session in 1994. The PRD includes nine major cities: Guangzhou, Shenzhen, 
Foshan, Zhuhai, Dongguan, Zhongshan, Huizhou, Jiangmen and Zhaoqing. 

PRD Economic Zone:72 The PRD Economic Zone consists of Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Dongguan, Foshan, 
Zhongshan, Zhuhai, Jiangmen and parts of Huizhou and Zhaoqing. It has been the most economically dynamic 
region on the Chinese mainland since the launch of China’s reform programme in 1979. 

Greater PRD:73 After the return of Hong Kong and Macau to China, with the central government’s support the 
governments of Guangdong Province, Hong Kong and Macau have made efforts to promote regional economic 
integration. The central government signed the Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement (CEPA) with the Hong 
Kong Government and the Macau Government in 2003, thereby integrating the greater PRD region. It covers about 
18.1 square kilometres.

Pan PRD:74 The Pan PRD, also known as ‘9+2’, is the region including Guangdong, Fujian, Jiangxi, Guangxi, Hainan, 
Hunan, Sichuan, Yunnan, Guizhou, Hong Kong and Macao. A cooperation plan, promoting the development of this 
region by leveraging complementary advantages of different provinces, was published in July 2003.

72 Pearl River Delta Economic Zone, People’s Government of Guangdong, viewed on 1st May, 2015, <http://www.gd.gov.cn/gdgk/qyjjjs/200901/t20090122_84368.htm>

73 An Overview of The Pearl River Delta, Invest HK, viewed on 1st June, 2015, <http://www.info.gov.hk/info/gprd/pdf/F_GPRD_Overview.pdf>

74  PPRD, Southcn.com, viewed on 15th May, 2015, <http://www.newsgd.com/specials/panprdforum/forumkeywords/200405240106.htm>
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Abbreviations

BCS  Business Confidence Survey 

CIETAC  China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission

CSPFTZ China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone

EBIT Earnings before interest and tax 

EU European Union

FDI Foreign Direct Investment

FIE Foreign-Invested Enterprise

FTZ Free Trade Zone

GDP Gross Domestic Product

GFTZ Guangdong Free Trade Zone 

HR Human Resources 

ICT Information and Communications Technology

IP Intellectual Property

IPR Intellectual Property Rights 

MEP  Ministry of Environmental Protection

MOFCOM  Ministry of Commerce 

MOF Ministry of Finance  

MOJ  Ministry of Justice

NDRC National Development and Reform Commission

NPC          National People’s Congress

PRD         Pearl River Delta               

R&D Research and development

SAIC    State Administration of Industry and Commerce

SAFE         State Administration of Foreign Exchange 

SC South China

SCLAO State Council Legislative Affairs Office

SEZ Special Economic Zone

SME Small and Medium-sized Enterprise

SZCIQ   Shenzhen Entry-Exit Inspection and Quarantine Bureau

VAT           Value Added Tax 


